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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF UTAH, CENTRAL DIVISION

THOMAS E. PEREZ, SECRETARY OF | MEMORANDUM DECISION

LABOR, UNITED STATES INCLUDING FINDINGS OF FACT
DEPARTMENT OF LABOR, AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW AND
CONTEMPT ORDER
Plaintiff,
V.

CaseNo. 2:06ev-00700 TC
PARAGON CONTRACTORS CORP. and
BRIAN JESSOP, individually
District Judge David Nuffer
Defendants

On June 1, 2016, Defendants were found to be in contempt of a 2007 Permanent Injunction
prohibiting future violations of the FLSA’s child labor provisidniust over a year later, Plaintiff
filed another show cause motfoarguing that Defendant Paragoror@@ractors Corporation
(“Paragon”)simply changed its name to Par 2 Contractors, LLC (“Par 2”), and prompiinees
using child labor. Plaintiff alleges that Par 2, as a successor in irtteRetagon, is bound by the
2007 injunction. Defendantienythat Par 2 is a successor to Paragon.

An evidentiary hearingvas heldon February 2627, 2018.2 Plaintiff was represented by
Karen E. Bobela, attorney for the United States Department of Labor. Defewdee represented
by Rick Sutherland. Par 2, an intening party, was represented by Jeffrey Maflinetestimony

of witnessavas heard and several exhilatsd joint stipulations by the partieere receivedAfter

! SeeFindings of Fact and Conclusions of Ladecket no. 99filed June 1, 2016.
2 Motion for Order to Show Causggcket no. 138filed September 25, 2017.

3 Minute Entry for proeedings held before Judge David Nuffer: Evidentiary Headogket no. 181, filed February
26, 2018 Minute Entry for proceedings held before Judge David Nuffer: Evialgnitiearing docket no. 182, filed
February 27, 2018.
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considering all of the eviden@nd the arguments of counsielis determined thaPar 2,as a
successor to Paragon and Brian Jessogividually, violated the permanent injunction on

November 29, 2007.

FINDINGS OF FACT ... e e e 2
CONCLUSIONS OF LAW. ...ttt e e e et e e e e s 24

A. Par 2, as a successor to Paragon, qualifies as a “person[] in active conaeitipaipan

with them” capable of violation of the INJUNCLION. ..........ccceiiiiiiiii 24
B. Defendants and Par 2 are in Contempt of the 2007 Injunction..............cooevviiviiiiiiiinennnn. 32
C.  CONCIUSION ...ttt e e ettt e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e nnannbr e ee e 34
L ] I PP 35

FINDINGS OF FACT #°
1. A Permanent Injunction against Defendants Paragon, Brian Jessop, and James
Jessopvas enteredn November 29, 2007.Pursuant to the injunction:

Defendantshall not, contrary to Sections 12(c) and 15(a)(4) of the FLSA, employ,
suffer or permit minors to work in commerce or in the production of goods for
commerce, or in an enterprise engaged in commerce or in the production of goods
for commerce, within the eaning of the FLSA under conditions constituting
oppressive child labor as defined in 8§ 3(I) of the FL3&U.S.C. § 203(J)and in

4 These findings of faare entered based on a preponderance of the evidence. In assessing the credililégsss,

the following have beeconsidered: the source and basis of each witness’s knowledge; théhstfezach witness’s
memory; each witness’s interest, if anytle outcome of the litigation; the relationship of each witness to either side
in the case; and the extent to which each witness’s testimotyrrisboratedor contradicted by other evidence
presented at the hearing.

5> References to the hearing transcript are cited as “Transcript [page:lines].”riRefete exhibits admitted at the
hearing are cited as “Ex. [X]” as numbered at the hearing. Referencesésswviteclarations and exhibits attached
thereto submitted in advance of trial are cited by theif B6Gcument Number, page number, and paragraph number
where applicable, i.eDocket noX atX, § X.”

6 Permanent Injucntiorocket no. 26filed November 29, 2007.
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occupations therein declared to be hazardous as defined in the regulations found at
29 C.F.R. Part 570 (Subparts C and E).

2. The Injunction enjoins and restrains “defendants, their officers, agents, servants
employees, and those persons in active concert or participation with them whe aeteal notice
of [the injunction].”

3. On June 1, 2016, following an evidentiary hearing, Defendants Paragon and Brian
Jessop were found to be in contempt of the 2007 injungtion.

4, A Sanctions Ordewas enteredn December 6, 2016, finding:

Here, shortly after being caught mgichild labor in the construction industry and

agreeing to the entry of the Injunction, Defendants secretly began profitmg fro

child labor once again. Defendants sought to conceal their knowing and willful

violation of the Injunction. They told employees to lie about the child labor and

even developed signals and strategies for hiding child workers during inspections.

They failed to maintain records of work performed on the Ranch, denied the

Department access to the Ranch, refused to provide names lmyeegpwho

worked at the Ranch, refused to respond to subpoenas, and made incredible denials

of their involvement with the work at the Ranth.
Additionally, a specific finding was entered thBefendantswere “not credible,” and their
testimonywas “evas/e and often . . . contradicted by other witnesses’ testimtfhy.”

5. It wasalsodeterminedhat“Defendants have left the Court with no assurance that
they are in compliance with its order or that they will, on their own accord, comply uttine. ™

As a remedy for Defendants’ contempt, a special massrappointedo monitor Defendants’

compliance with the injunction, and Defendamtsre orderedo make an initial payment of

" Docket no. 26Fed. R. Civ. P. 65(d)

8 Docket no. 99

9 Order on Sanctionglocket no. 109filed December 6, 2016.
10 Docket no. 9%t 6-7.

1id.
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$200,000 to the Department of Labomiace into an interest bearing aoat to serve aa fund
to compensate children for their walrk.

6. Plaintiff filed another show cause motion on September 25, 2017, alleging that
Defendants and Par 2 Contractors, LLC, as successor in interest to Parag@ganem contempt
of the 2007 injunction, as well as the Order Appointing Special M&ster.

7. Defendants appeald¢lde sacntions order to the United States Court of Appeals for
the Tenth Circuit. In March 2018, the Tenth Circuit affirmed Judge Campbeitsng of
contempt and the compensatory damages contempt sanction, but reversed the appointment of a
special mastet?

8. In light of the Tenth Circuit'slecision, he parties stipulated that tlaly issue
currentlybefore this Couris whether Defendants and Par 2, as a successor in iriteRestagon,
violatedthe 2007 Permanent Injunctién.

Par 2 is a Successor in Interest to Paragon

There has been a substantial continuity in operations, work force, location, management,
working conditions and methods of production between Paragon and Par 2.

9. Par 2 is a commercial framing company, as was Parggon.

10.  Par 2 filed Articles of Incorporation with the Utah Secretary of Stateemember

21d. The Order contemplates a eywar claims proces®ff eligible individuals to submit claims for compensatory
back wages from the fund. The claims process ended on April 14, D84 arties are currently briefing this matter.
SeeDocket no. 1090rder Approving Parties’ Agreement to Resolve Plaintiff's MotionOrder to Show Cause,
docket no. 13f6filed April 12, 2017, and Proposed Scheudle of Payments, dock&nbled April 18, 2018

13 Docket no. 138
14 Acosta v. Paragon et a884 F.3d 1225 (10Cir. 2018)

15 Stipulation by the Parties to Address the Order Requring Supplemenifaid3Fe: [186] Mandate of the United
States Court of Appeals for the Tenth Circdidcket no. 188filed April 12, 2018

1 Transcriptat 23:14-19, docket no. 184filed March 30, 2018.
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2, 2013, but it did not begin to operate as a business until August?2014.

11. While Paraga remains an active company, it has no contracts for work, gobs,
employeed? Paragon sold most of its tools and equipment over the last fewyeStrsnost,
Paragon had “a job or two” that was “still going on” in 2016 somewhere in LouisianBriant
Jessop doesot remember any details of the j#lParagon had no jobs or contracts for work in
20172

12.  Brian Jessop testified that he has been downsizing Paragmrationsince 2011
for personal reasons, bhis testimonys inconsistent with Parag@tax recordsthat heread into
the record establishingthat Paragon’s gross receipts and sales were $5,619,108 in 2010,
$6,683.579 in 2011, and $6,088,107 in 2842.

13.  Porter Brotherss a general contractor located in Gilbert, ArizéhRorter Brothers
hired Paragon as a subcontractor for various jobs betweera2d28152%4 In May 2015, Porter
Brothers received a bid from the same individuals it worked with at Paragon, but under the
company name Par 2 Contractors, LL&hd Porter Brothersas worked with Par 2 (and not
Paragon) ever sincé@

14.  Like Paragon, Par 2 does work for large commercial hotels like Hyatt amtbt¥)ar

7 Ex. 20 (Par 2 did not begin operations until August 2014); Transt@23:14-21.
1 Transcriptat 217:9-16.

¥ Transcriptat 257:9-19.

20 Transcriptat 225:24-226:6.

2! Transcriptat 225:21226:20

22 Transcriptat 232:23-233:13, 282:2283:20, 284:16286:3.

2 Declaration of Dennis Porter &t { 1, docket no. 148filed December 20, 2017.
21d.atl, 1 2.

25|d. at 1, 1 3; Transcripat 62:21-25.
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universities, and other large scale commercial profécts.

15. Par 2's annual dollarolumeof businessvas$1,030,998 in 201445,753,562n
2015, and $8,022,510.8§YTD at the time of Wage Hour’s investigatjan 20162’

16. Paragon’s address1065 W. Utah Avenue, Hildale, UT, 84784Par 2shared the
sameaddress from the timieincorporated up until the summer of 20%7.

17.  Paragots phone number was (435) 818103° Par 2usedthe samghone number
for several yeard' Jake Barlow claimed that Par 2 eventually got a new phone number but he
could not recall when and there is no evidence to support his testi Doy Jessop also could
not recall when Par 2 got a separate phone nufiber.

18.  All of Par 2’'s upper level employees are former employees or management of
Paragon:

Brian Jessop:

a. Brian Jessop was the owner of and estimator for Paragon, and he continues

to be an estimator for Par®2.

26 Docket no. 14&t 3-28 (Paragon contracts for a dentist office, Marriott Courtyard at LedhilVimriott Courtyard
Mesa), 3373 (Par 2 contracts for Marriott Courtyard at Sedona, Marriott CodrigiavWestminster, Home2Suites
Glendale, etc.); Declaration of Kevin Huntsaf] 12 docket no. 153filed December 20, 20L7EX. 20.

27 Declaration of Jacob Goeat 2, 9 docket no. 150filed December 20, 2017.
28 Docke no. 148at 31.

2% Transcriptat 325:4-326:2, 329:723; Declaration of Jeff Wilson &8, docket no. 151filed December 20, 2017
Ex. 16 Par 2 utilized two addresses from the time of its existenceti@tiummer of 2017, i.e. 1065 W. Utah Avenue
and 780 North Pinion, but both addresses are for the same building Rér@gon operates from as well. Transcript
at325:4-326:2, 329:1523, 3403-7; Docket no. 15&t 49 10.

30 Transcriptat 252: 8-253:3.

31 Docket no. 148, at 332,and50; Transcriptat 252:14-15, 253:23, 254:8-17; Doc 1673 at 1.
32 Transcript at 299:24300:7.

33 Transcript at 340:2841:5.

34 Docket no. 148pg. 1, 1 23.
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b. Brian Jessop is a party to the 2007 Injuncfion.

C. Brian Jessojs also a supervisor for Par 2, as reflected on a Fall Protection
PreTest that he signed for Kimball Barlow in November 2015 in the capacityugdex\gsor for
Par 23¢

d. Par 2’'sforeman identified Brian Jessop as Par 2's safety coordinator in
November 2016’

e. When contractors like Porter Brothers sent bid requests to Hayzent
the requests to Brian Jessop, and the bids Porter Brothers received from Par 2rhaesBojas
name at the bottom of theth.

f. Brian Jessop communicated with estimators and project managers from
Porter Brothers-on behalf of Par 2—to clarify proposals and contracts for Work.

g. On several occasions, Brian Jessop authorized material changes to
proposals on behalf of Par*2.

h. Brian Jessop was also the primary contact person identified on at least one

of Par 2’s subcontractor agreements with Porter BratHers another contractor’s (Bonneville

35 Docket no. 26

36 Docket no. 15Jat 4-5. Par 2 produced this document to ADOSH Inspector Jeff Wilson to veafyitthrovided
fall protection training to its employee on November 18, 2015, followiegcitation issued by ADOSHDocket no.
151at3 1 8; Tr. at 104:3106:11.

37 Declaration of Brooks Rogeet 1, 1 3, docket no. 14.7filed December 20, 201Td. at 15.
38 Transcript ab1:14-52:11, 53:1254:9; Docket no. 14&t 1, 1 3.

3% Transcriptat53:5-11; 54:16-14; Docket no. 14&t 49,65.

40 Transcriptat53:5-54:14, 253:413, 255:3-13; Docketno. 148at 49,65.

4 Transcriptat 54:15-24; Docket no. 14&t 66
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Builders) subcontractor li§¢ and on another Par 2 subcontract agreement with Wadman
Corporation?3

I. Brian Jessofas been involved with most of Par 2's bids siRee 2 was
formed includingmaking material changes to bitfs.

J- Brian Jessop involvement is not limited to the biddingquoess he also

overseeshe day to day operations of Par 2's work sites through the completion of Par 2’8 work.

Don Jessop:
a. Don Jessop is Brian Jessop’s brottfer.
b. Don Jessop declaratiorstates he was employed by Paragon until 2004.

However, n August 2017, Don Jessapld the U.S. Department of Labdfyage HourDivision
(“Wage Hour")that he worked for Paragon between 1998 and 20a6trial, Don Jessofestified
that he worked as a foremfor Paragorbetween 2013 and 20#%Dennis Porter alsoonfirmed
that Don Jessop worked as a foreman for Paragon between 2013 affl 2015.

C. In contrast, Brian Jessop testified that Don Jessop worked for Paragon

42 Stipulation,docket no. 178filed Feburay 26, 2018Vage Hour obtained this subcontractor list identifying Brian
Jessop as the point of contact for Par 2 in response to investigatingpkicd of child labor at a construction site in
Springdale, UT. Transcript 185:484).

43 Declaration of Don Jessop, ExHiBi Subcontract Work Order & Docket no. 16, filed Feburary 2, 2016&ee
Brian Jessop’s Par 2 email addrgss2brian@speedmail.com

4 Transcript a234:12235:4 252:5-7, and 253:4-255:13. The only bid identified by Par 2 that was prepared by
anyone other than Brian Jessop is dated December afiéi7 Plaintiff's show cause motidalleging that Par 2 is a
successor in interest to Parayjamas filed. Transcripat391:4-392:6.

4 Exhs. 711.

46 Declaration of Brian Jessop at®8 docket no. 158filed Febuary 2, 2018
47 Declaration of Don Jess@t1, 1 3 docket no. 16/filed Feburary 2, 2018
48 Ex. 20.

4 Transcript350:15-18.

50 Transcript62:14-20 andDocket no. 14&t 1, 2.
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between 2002nd 2004, but he acknowledgkthat Don Jessop appears on Paragon’s employee

list provided to Wage Hour pursuant to a subpoena in 2012.

Jake Barlow:
a. Jake Barlowvorked for Paragon from at least 2011 to 2014 before he joined
Par 252
b. Along with Brian Jessop, Jake Barlow was a primary point of cofdact

contractorsat Paragn.>®

C. Jake Barlowcontinued to be the point of contact for contractors at Pér 2.

d. Jake Barlow signed OSH#& Form 300Afor Paragon in the capacity of
“Office Managerand “Manager” between 2012 and 20P4e continued to sign OSHA’s Form
300A for Par 2 in the sae capacity®

e. Jake Barlowalsodid timekeeping, payroll and accounting for Paragon, and
he continued to do timekeeping, payroll and accounting for Par 2.

Benjamin Barlow:

a. Benjamin Barlowwas authorized to sigiRS Form W9 on behalf of
Paragon in 20128 He continued to work for Par 2 and was identified asa@ point of contact

for Par 2 along with Jake Barlowto Arizona Division of Occupational Safety and Health

51 Docket no. 15&t 3 § 12. Tanscript263:16-265:4; Exhs. 1:213.
52 Transcript292:24-293:1.

53 Docket no. 14&t 1, 1 2, and 29.

S41d. at 1,1 3.

55 Docket no. 155t 35-37; Transcript221:5-19, 293:8294:18.

56 Docket no. 147at 14

5" Transcript329:24-330:8.

58 Transcript224:5-12; Docket no. 14&t 3.
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(“ADOSH") inspectordeff Wilson(“Inspector Wilson”)>®
b. Benjamin Barlowalso identified himselto ADOSH as Par 2's safety
manage&nd signed a settlement agreement with ADOSH on behalf of Par 2
James Jessop:
a. James (Jim") Jessops Brian Jessop’s brothét.
b. He is the Vice President of Paradg®n.
C. He isa party to the 200Permaneninjunction ®3
d. James Jessopias also designated asand held himself out to bea
management official for Partd ADOSH Inspector Wilson during his inspectin.

Kimball Barlow:

a. Kimball Barlow was employethy Paragonand his name appears on the
cover page of Paragon’s 2014 Occupational Safety and Health Paldyhe continued to be
employed as a foreman for Paf*2.

19.  Par 2 has between 20 30 employee$® In August 2017, Don Jessopld Wage
Hour that he has hired yntwo or three former Paragon employees to work at PaHawever,

a comparison of employee lists provided by Paragon and Peile2t that at least nineteen

%9 Docket no. 15%t 38.

80 Transcript80:21-22; Docket no. 154t 1, 1 4;Docket no. 15Aht 6-7.
51 Transcript219:34.

52 Transcript219:5-6.

83 Docket no. 26

54 Transcript79:20-25, 100:13101:11;Docket no. 15%ht 38.

55 Transcript76:8-12; Docket no. 15kt 21

56 Docket no. 2@t 2 Docket no. 16at 2 19

67 Ex. 20at4. And he could only remember the names of two individuals, Philip BanalW¥éinston Zitting Docket
no. 153at 3 7 9.

10
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employees overlap between the compaffieShese employees includ&Villiam Barlow,
Williamson Dutson, Kimball Barlow, Randall Barlow, Leonard Barlow, Tobias Dutson,\Lero
Barlow, Jr., Winston Barlow, Winston Zitting, Aaron Barlow, Philip Barlow, Jared@utiSerek
Jessop, Thomas Jessop, Tennyson Barlow, Keith Dutson, Benjamin Barlow, dake &al Don
Jessop? In addition,althoughBrian Jessopnd James Jessdpry being employed by Par 2, there
evidence to the contrar.

20. Paragon’s Occupational Safety and Health Policy also transferRat @/ Par 2
produced it to ADOSHinspector Wilsorasits own policyduring an inspection in August 2015

21.  Similarly, Par 2 produced to Inspector Wilsseveral OSHA forms bearing
Paragon’s name as records of compliance with OSHA reguldfionspector Wilsoraccepted
the records bearing Paragon’s nameez®nds belonging to Par 2 whiaa discovered Paragon
operated aPar 274

22.  During a subsequent inspection in November 2016, Par 2 again produced records
bearing Paragon Contractors’ name to ADOSH Inspector Brooks RGgers.

23. Paragon and Par 2eithe samproposal forms to solicit work from contractors and

88 Transcript 264:22265:1;Cf. Exhs. 13 & 18.

8% Transcript363:2-365:10.

0Seef 18,supra.

I Transcript94:17-20, 95:2396:2.

72Docket no. 15ht 2 1 2, 7; Tanscript95:23-96:2.

73 Docket no. 15ht 2 1 6. In response to Inspector Wilson’s request for safety records, Rah@2ed OSHA 300A
Summary of WorkRelated Injuries and Ilinesses forms for 2012, 2013, and 2014 and OSHA 300 LocgkeRelated
Injuries and llinesses for 2012, 2013, 2014, and 20D5cKet no. 15%kt 2  6; p. 3537, 39-42). The OSHA 300A
and 300 forms for each of the years identify “Paragon Contractors Qditpamgon Contractors Corporation” as the
establishment namid. The OSHA 300A logs were signed by Jake Barlow, the same individuattosjyVilson met
with on behalf of Par 2d. Moreover, the phone number providedthe OSHA 300A forms for all three years is the
same phone number Kimball Barlow provided for Par 2 on the Information. Sluediet no. 15kt 38

" Transcriptl01:23-103:1.
75 Docket no. 14at 1-2, 1 2, 45.
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Brian Jessop signed the proposals for both compdhRatagon and Par 2 produced employee
lists on nearly identicaformsas well/” In an effort to explain this, Don Jessop testified thas he
not surewhether Par 2 inherited the same software used by Paragon or purchased something
different 8
24. Par 2's Office Manager, Jake Barlow, sBaragon’s signature liren emails sent
from his Par 2 email accoufit.
25.  Par 2 received some tools, equipment, and vehitbm Paragqrbut neither Don
nor Brian Jessop would elaborate with respect to what tools, equipment, or vehicles were
transferred from Paragon to Par 2. For example, Don Jessop declarectHaCehtractors did
not receivaall of its tools, equipment, or vehicles from Parag#fiBrian Jessop declared “neither
Don Jessop nor Par 2 purchased any equipment or tools from me or P&taifotné hearing,
Brian Jessop testified that some of Paragon’s equipment and tools “could havetupidae
hands of Par 2, but he could not think of anything specificadéigpite havingoldall of Paragon’s
tools and equipment himséff He also is “not real sure” if Paragon is lending any equipment or
tools to anyone at Par 2, but he thinks “there’s a good chanmaeihen Paragon’s employees
went to work for Par 2 they took tools with théSimilarly, Don Jessop vaguely testified that

Par 2 has borrowe couple of pieces adquipmentfrom Paragorbut he could not provide any

6 Cf. Docket no. 14&t 19and 28with Docket no. 14&t 4Q 49, 57, 65, & 73.
"7 Cf.Exhs. 13 and 18.

8Tr. at 362:1613.

® Docket no. 14&t 32

80 Docket no. 164t 3 1 12.

81 Docket no. 15&t 2 7 9.

82 Transcript257:23-258:8.

83 Transcript258:22-25; 260:106-18, 261:2224.
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detail regarding anarrangemeistbéween the compani€’ Theonly example he providedas a
telescopic forkliftPar 2borrowed ad the only informatiorhe could providevith respect to the
underlying arrangement between the companasthat*we went to where it was and moved it
so that we could use i£®

26. At least one antractor(Porter Brothershhat did business with Paragon gmveral
years believed that Paragon changed its name to Par 2 if2@afer Brothers emailed Brian
Jessop on May 1, 2015, asking for a newd\Wecause Paragon’s company name chaffgiake
Barlow responded the same dappying Brian Jessop, with a W for Par 2 attache®. Jake
Barlow’s signature line included Paragon’s company name and phone rmiirRoeter Brothers
also continued to refer to the company asafan on job sites even after the name change to Par
2.0 Other contractors continued to use email addresses associated with Paragon
(pcctrades@gmail.coyror Par 2 business.

27.  Similarly, some of Par 2's employeesntinued toidentify their employer as
Parajon even aftethie name change occurréd.

Par 2 had notice of the 2007 Permanent I njunction

28. Atleast five Par 2 employees and members of management have notice of the 2007

84 Transcript355:16-358:10

85 Transcript355:6-356:15.

86 Docket no. 14&t 1, 3 Docket no. 14&t 32

871d.

881d.

8 Docket no. 14&t 32

% Transcript78:18-20.

91 Docket no. 16®B at 1; cf. Docket no. 14&t 29 Transcript 221:2622, 297:9-17.
92 Transcript103:4-24; Docket no. 15Aht 1, 5.
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Permanent Injunction.

29. Brian Jessopnd Jim Jessogre individually named on and hadtualnotice ofthe
2007 Permanent Injunctioi.As explained above, Brian Jessop and James Jessop continued to
work for Par 2when Paragon ceased business operatfons.

30. Before he went to work for Par 2, Jake Barlow assisted Paragon with gatmeing
prodwcing documents pursuant to the Department of Labor’s subpoena issued to Paragon in 2013
in the course of Wage Hour’s child labor investigation surrounding the pecan Hatvederlying
that subpoena and investigation was the 2007 Permanent Injunction against Defénhidats.
Barlow understood the purpose of the subpoena and Wage Hour’s investigation.

31. Don Jessop was a Director for Paragon Contractors Corporation betweeang000
2010, during which time the 20@&rmanent Injunction was enteré&d.

32.  Keith Dutson is a former employee of Paragon and current employee for'Par 2.
Brian Jessopestfied that he never informed Keith Dutson of the 2007 Permanent Injunction
however,Keith Dutson was involved in subpoena enforcement proceedings with respectedo Wag
Hour’s child labor investigation that culminated in the finding of Paragon and Brssople

contempt of the injunctioand was therefore aware of the injunction at least as of that®?

98 Docket no. 26
94 Seef 18,supra.

% Transcript221:23-223:12.This child labor investigation ultimately culminated in a finding ofteampt against
Defendants and the entry of Judge Campbell’'s Order on Sanctions Ordezeoidee 6, 2016.

% Transcript223:9-12.

9" Transcript223:1-8.

% Transcript265:23-22, 267:36; Exhs 14-15.
% Transcript267:15-17.

00 Transcript267:18-268:9 See Harris v. DutsorGase No. 2:18v-282-TC, Docs. 27, which was consolidated into
Harris v. Paragon et alCase No. 2:1:8v-281-RJS.
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Par 2 isableto providerelief
33.  Par 2’sannual dollar volume of business exceeded $8 million in 281Bar 2
operates in several states and works with a variety of contra€t@isere is no evidence to support
a finding that Par 2 is unable to providdief in this case.

Par 2 violated the 2007 injunction

34. Wage Hour Investigator Jacob Goehl (“WHI Goehl”) invesgdalPar 2 for
compliance with the Fair Labor Standards &c20161% The investigation occurred at the same
location where ADOSH did an inviégation at theVlarriot Residence Inn in Flagstaffrikonal®
Par 2 waghe subcontractoat this job site for Porter Brothers and pursuant to the subcontract
agreemenBrian Jessop was the primary point of contact for this'{dBrian Jessomot only
prepared the bid for this job, but haintainedccommunication with Porter Brothers with respect
to this job1%

35.  WHI Goehlfound Par 2’'s foreman, Phil Barlow, to Beagey throughout the
investigation'®” WHI Goehl held an initial conference and doscted nearly eight hours of
surveillance of the job sitevhere he observed Par 2's employees engaging in rough framing
activities and utilizing power nail guns on or about the t8%f.

36. Based on records produced by PAVHI Goehl discovered that two dfe framers

01seef 15,supra.
102pocket no. 164t 2-3, 11 9, 11.
108 Docket no. 15Gt 1, § 1-2.

104 The address of the site was 100 N. Humphreys Street, Flagstaf;f AZocket no. 15@Gt 1, T 2with Docket no.
147 at 3andDocket no. 14&t 66

105 Docket no. 14&t 66 Docket no. 15Gt 1, 11 2, 8.

106 Transcript255:22-256:2.

107 Docket no. 15Gt 1, 3.

108 Transcriptat 132:26133:12, 135:1625; Docket no. 15Gt 1, 1 3-4.
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working on the site were Jears old!®®He confirmed with Jake Barlow and Par 2's attorney that
all of the framers, including the d&ar olds, used power nail guns and worked on the'tBdake
Barlow and Par 2’s attorney did not provide anpimation that was contrary to WHI Goehl’'s
findings or disagree with his conclusiotts.

37.  WHI Goehl determined that Par 2's employment of these minors violatethitde
laborprovisionsof FairLaborStandard#ct of 1938(29U.S.C.8212), andrelatedegulations,
including HazardougOrder5 (29 C.F.R. 870.55 occupations involved in the operation of
powerdriven woodworking machines) and Hazardous Order 26 C.F.R 8 570.67
occupations in roofing operations and on or about a fédThese regulations prohibit the
employment of minors under the age of 18 from workinspichoccupations®®

38.  DuringtheclosingconferenceRar 2's attorneyold WHI Goehlthat Par 2, being
from an extremelyuralarean Hildale,UT, likely becamaccustometb allowing 17-yearolds
to perform theseaypesof tasksandwasunawarethatanyrulesexisted tandicate thait was
illegal.114

39. Wage Hour assessed a civil money penaltthemamount of $6,920.0@ar2
acceptedheviolations,paidthe penalty, and the case was administratieklged!!® Because

Par 2 paidhe penalty andid notcontesthe violationsWage Houts administrative determination

109 Docket no. 150 at, 1 5.

1101d.; Transcriptl30:2-9.

1 Transcriptl33:13-134:11.

112 Docket no. 15@t 2 1 6.

113 Id.

H4Docket no. 15Gt 2 1 7; Tanscript1l36:12-21.
115Docket no. 15@t 2 T 8.
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became a finabrderand not subject to administrative or judicial revigi.

Defendants withesses are not credible

Brian Jessop

40. U.S. District CourtMagistrateJudge Fursd).S. District Courtludge Shelby, and
U.S. District Court Judg€ampbell have all determined that Brian Jessop is not credible. In the
Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law following the first contempt proceedjamsh
Defendants in this action, Judge Campbell “found Brian Jessop not crelditfie noted:

This caurt is not the first judge in this case to find Brian Jessop not to be a credible
witness. During proceedings brought by the Secretary to enforce subpssresb i

to Paragon and Brian Jessop, Magistrate Judge Evelyn Furse wrote: “Mr. Jessop’s
claimed lackof knowledge [was] disingenuoudarris v. Paragon Contractors
Corp., No. 2:13cv-00281, slip op. at 2 (D. Utah June 20, 2013) (decision and
recommendation to enforce subpoenas). Judge Furse found “Brian Jessop’s clai
not to know a single person who harvested ground nuts at SUPR lack[ed]
believability.” Id. at 3. She also found that Mr. Jessop’s denial of knowing who the
FLDS Bishop was for two months made it clear that “Mr. Jessop simply did not
want to provide that informationltl. When reviewing JudgEurse’s conclusions

for correctness, U.S. District Court Judge Robert Shelby made “the saling$iri

Harris v. Paragon Contractors CorpNo. 2:13cv-00281, slip op. at 3 (D. Utah

Aug. 21, 2013) (order adopting Judge Furse’s decision and recommenidation
enforce subpoenas). Judge Shelby said, “It is simply not credible that Mr. Jessop is
unable to name a single person who harvested the ground nuts when the harvest
resulted in Mr. Jessop and Paragon’s financial g&ih.”

41.  Brian Jessop’s emails from Har 2 email account alsmderminehis credibility:
a. According to Brian Jessophe ‘helped Par 2 since the company was
formed!*® In addiion to what is set forth aboveBrian Jessop’s assistance included

communicating with esmnators and contractors amdviewing contracts to ensure they are

116 Docket no. 15@t 4 29 C.F.R. Part 580.5
117 Docket no. 9%t 8
18 Transcript234:12-235:4
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consistent with the estimaté&’ Brian Jessop estimated that spent approximatelywo to three
hours a night eaclieek on these tasks, or maybe 20 hours a month (and sometimes more), between
2014 to the present® Brian Jessop characterizes his involvement with Par 2'spriufit
corporation between 2014 to the present as volunteer }#ork.

b. To do this work, Don Jessop authorized Brian Jessop to open an email

account par2brim@speedmail.)sto communicate with contractors on behalf of Paf?Z he

Department of Labor issued a subpoena to Brian Jessop on September 8, 2017, requesting all

electronic correspondence sent to or fimandrian@speedmail.us between August 15, 28id

the present?® Brian Jessop produced only 16 emails in response to the subptesfayhich
were junk mail?* He produced no emails from his sedi¢leted or any other folders and he
claimed that is because he keeps his email “cleaned out” (withpiherentexception of junk
mail).1?°

C. Wage Hour also issued a subpoena to Par 2 requesting all electronic

correspondence sent to or fropar2brian@speedmail.usetween August 15, 2014nd the

present?® Though he confirmed that he authorized Brian Jessop to open this email account on
behalf of Par 2, Don Jessogfused to produce emails to or from that account in response to the

subpoena on the basis that he did not control the server and he was unwilling to ask Brian Jessop

19 Transcript235:5-15.

120 Transcript235:24-25; 236:2521.
21 Transcript237:22-24, 238:1215.
122 Transcript238:16-25.

123 Transcript239:24-240:5; Ex. 5.
124 Transcriptat 241:6-20; Ex. 6.

25 Transcript241:21-242:23.

126 Ex, 19.
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to produce them voluntari#’
d. Plaintiff obtained numerous emails from an independent source reflecting

Brian Jessop’s material involvement in Par 2's day to day business opet&tiMust of the
emails were sent during regular business hawsin the eveningasBrian Jessop claimed, and
the content of the emails is not limited to project estimates or contfa&ather, the content of
the emails reflect Brian Jessop’s active involvemeran 2’s construction siteslong after Par
2 obtained the contract for workand they deal with specific items related to the erection of
columns, windows that need to be hung, screen walls that need to be framed, anchor bolt problems,
and punch list &ms that need to woneafter completion ofa project!*° Brian Jessop conceded
that he sent “many” similar emails like the ones in Exhibild 73! All of these emails were sent
after the entry of the Order Appointing Special Mastért33

42.  As of the date of the hearing, Brian Jessop had paid $162,000 to the Department of
Labor in accordance with Judge Campbell’s sanctions ,odéspite his claim that he had been
unemployed up until July 207#* He explained that the monegnee from family and friends “as

though [he] borrowed it from thent3®

27Docket no. 15&t 5 1 12.
128Exhs. 711.

1291d.; Transcript243:7-250:16.
130 |d

Bl Transcript250:13-16.
32Exhs. 711.

133 Plaintiff entered several exhibits containing emails from Brian Jesf@p’'®'s email account that were obtained
from an independent sourc8eeExhs. 7-11. As part of its investigation of Par 2, Plaintiff issueduapoena to
Benjamin Jessop who is believed to operate the server on which additimaild could be found. Plaintiff is currently
litigating a parallel subpoena enforcement action againsaBenjJessop who has not complied with the subpoena
to date.See Acosta v. Jess@17-cv-1301.

B4 Transcript273:6-15.
35 Transcript273:16-22.

19


https://ecf.utd.uscourts.gov/doc1/18314175004?page=5

43.  The nature and extent of Brian Jessop’s involvement with RasZeinforced by
what Wage Hour discovered when it attempted to serve a subpoena t&*Pite. discowering
that Par 2 was located in the same businesgplex as Paragon, the Wage Hour investigator rang
the buzzer located outside the building and spoke to a woman who said everyone from Par 2 was
out for lunch, but she would try to get a hold of her “bd$6.The investigator asked if the person
she wasrying to get a hold of was Brian Jessop and she said yes and confirmed that $ogn Je
works for Par 238 The woman refused to provide her name or any additional information.

Don Jessop

44.  Though he claims to be responsible for all decisions regarding Par 2, Dop Jesso
was unfamiliar with several aspects of the company during his Augustrtfidliconferencevith
Wage Hour, includingPar 2's annual dollar volume of business; its Empldgentification
Number; how business records are kept by the company; when the workweek began; how
employees are paid for travel time, overtime, or per diem; whether employees ckileave;
and whether Par 2 provides lodging for employé@Similarly, although Don Jessop claimed to
do the hiring and firing and set rates of pay for Par 2 employees, he was not sararhosalaried
employees he haghe could only guess himself, Jake Barlow, and Benjamin Baréowd he did
not know what Jake or BenjamBarlow’s salaries weré!

45. WhenWage Hourasked if Par 2 employs any former Paragon employees, Don

1% Docket no. 15%t 4 1 10.
137|d_

138 Id

139 Id

140 Docket no. 15%t 8 Ex. 20.
1411d.: Ex. 20.
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Jessop statede hired “two or three employees from Paragti.This is inconsistent with the
employee lists produced by Paragon and Par 2 pursuant to subpoenas, whichireflectamf
approximately 19-21 employees that used to work for Paragon who now work fot®ar 2.

46. During theinitial conference with Wage Houin August 2017, Don Jessop
attempted to minimize the nature and extent of Brian Jessop’s involvement wigh'Pate
claimed that Brian Jess@@metimes provides assistance in the evenings by ensuring bids are in
the appropriate rangé® He described bidding and estimating as a “hobby” for Brian to explain
why Brian is happy to do this work for free as a favor for his brottfeFowardsthe end of the
initial conferenceDonstatedthat Brianhad been involved more than usual recemttyPar 2 hé
been reby busy andhe had to lean on him mois a resultand heconfirmed that Brian handles
most of the bids/proposals for Par 2 and communicates regularly with contactokalf of Par
2.1%7 Despite these factf)on Jessop denies that Brian Jessop has me@m employed by or
received wages from Par&®

47. A sideby-side comparison of the records produced by Porter Brdfflarsd those
produced by Par° demonstrates that Par 2 removed Brian Jessop’s name from the contract

documents in several locatioms thecontracts produced by Porter Brothers, “Respectfully, Brian

142Ex, 20at4; Docket no. 152t 3 1 9.
143 Seef 19,suprg Exhs.13 & 18.
144 Docket no. 152t 4 § 12; Ex. 20.

145 Id
146 Id

147 Id

148 Docket no. 164at 4 1 17.
149 Docket no. 14&t 33-73.
150 Docket no. 15&t 46-88.
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Jessop” appears at the bottom of each work propd'dalthe identical contracts produced by Par
2 to Wage Hour pursuant to a subpoena, “Respectfully, Brian Jessop” hasrdseairom the
docunent>2Similarly, in & least onedcationthecontract pricés crossed out and neritten with
a box that say¥er phone call with Brian Jessdj21/15.%53In the identical proposal produced
by Par 2, the text box has been altered to read “per phor®ZhlL5 and “with Brian Jessop”
has beerdeleted®* Par 2 also removed Brian Jessop’s name from the subcontract itself before
producing it to Wage Hour® The only explanation Don Jessop could provioieproducing
altered documents to Wage Hour pursuantfedaralsubpoends that the alterations were made
as part of Par 2's “filing process>®

Jake Barlow

48.  Par 2 provided numerous OSHA forms bearing Paragon’s nani2@$HA, on two
separate occasiomwer a year apatf’ Jake Barlowclaimsthat Benjamin Bdow accidentally
sent the Paragon OSHA forms to Inspector Wilson in September:2didthathe accidentally
sent the Paragon OSHA forms to Inspector Brooks in November'20H& explanation for both

“mistakes is that he kept these forms from his enyph@nt at Paragon and he intended to use

151 Docket no. 14&t 57,65 and 73.
152Docket no. 15%t 71,79, and 88.
153 Docket no. 14&t 65
154 Docket no. 15&t 79

155Cf. Docket no. 148atwith Docket no. 15&t 8Q Brian Jessop’s name appears on two additional proposals produced
by Porter Brothers that Par 2 did not produce pursuant to the subfeeBacket no. 14&t 40 and49.

156 Transcript371:2-381:21.

157 Docket no. 154kt 2 1 6;Docket no. 147at 1-2, 1 4.

158 Declaration of JacoBarlow, Jr.at5, 11 1415, docket no. 164Feburary 2, 2018.
1591d. at2-3, 11 6-7.
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them as templates for Pat® This explanatiomacks credibility Especially considering that Don
Jessop reviewed all of the documents sent to ADOSH before production wa¥hidaeearliest
OSHA form for Par 2 wasigned in 2018°% Moreover, Jake Barlow conceded that the OSHA
forms are fillable, writable PDF documents found directly on OSHA’s webdliteravthe
“template” is prepopulated-°3

49.  Jake Barlowsignedthe OSHA forms forParagon and Para&s “Office Manager”
or “Manager.’®® But he claims signing as a manager for Paragon for years 2012 and 2013 was
alsoan “accident.®®

50. Jake Barlow alsolaims that Par 2 mistakenly produced Paragon’s safety and health
policy to ADOSH® According tohim, he intended to use Paragon’s policy, but replace Paragon’s
name with Par 2 within the documéfit.

51. Jake Barlow made another “mistake” when he emailed Porter Brothers on May 1,
2015, from his Par 2 email account with “Paragon Contractors” in his signatur&®lide.
explained that heopiedBrian Jessop othis email “so that he knew that | had clarified for Carli

Porter that Par 2 Contractors was providing the services on the Sedona Marriatt, patje

1601d, at2-3, 5, 11 67, 14-15.
%1 Transcript354:25-355:2.
82 Transcript324:15-25.

163 Transcript295:11-296:9.

184 Docket no. 15kt 35(signed as “Office Manager” for Paragon on May 5, 2Gt3p (signed as “Office Manager”
for Paragon on January 30, 20487 (signed as “Manager” for Ragon on January 31, 2015), dbdcket no. 147
at 14(signed as “Manager” for Par 2 on January 31, 2016).

185 Transcript322:16-18.
166 Docket no. 164t 6 T 16.

167 Id

168 Docket no. 14&t 32 Transcript 320:814 (“That was just an-mail signature mistake. That should have been Par
2 Contractors.”)
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Paragon.*®®But he made no such “clarification” in the emaildthis explanation des not address
thefact that his signature line frohis Par 2emailaddresears Paragon’s namé& In response
to an email from Porter Brothers stating “I noticed that you (sic) compang shanged in the
attachment. Can you please send over a ne@/fd/m?”, Jake Barlow simply responded “Carli
see attached” and provided Par 2'svds requestetf!

52. Jake Barlowdenies having any knowledge of Brian Jessop’s involvemightPar
2, despitehe fact thaBrian Jessogs his uncle, and despite the nature and extent of Brian Jessop’s
involvement at Par 2 by his own admission and other evidence in thi§'tase.

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

A. Par 2, as a successor to Paragogualifies asa “persor] in active concert or
participation with them” capable of violation of the injunction.

The Supreme Courin Regal Knitwear Co. v. NLRBound that those denominated
“successors and assigns” could be held liable for damages flowing from tailatede by an
injunction”®“Successors and assigns may. . .be instrumentalities thrchigh defendant seeks
to evade an order or may come within the description of persons in active conceitipapiart
with them in the violation of an injunction. If they are, by that fact they are btauthin [the]
scope of contempt proceedings by the rules of civil procedure [Rule 65{(H)]Rewise, the
Supreme Court has held that injunctions to prevent violations éfdiné.abor Standards A9

U.S.C.A. 8 20%t seq(1985),may be enforced by contempt proceedings “against the corporation,

169 Docket no. 164t 4 1 10.

170 Docket no. 14&t 32 Transcript300:12-301:9, 320:814.

11 Docket no. 14&t 32 Transcript 301:921.

172 Docket no. 164t 6 11 1820; Transcript302:16-303:25, 305:23; Seel{ 18, 26, 42and44 supra.
173324 U.S. 9 (1945)

1741d.,324 U.S.at 14

24


https://www.westlaw.com/Document/NB579C930AFF711D8803AE0632FEDDFBF/View/FullText.html?transitionType=Default&contextData=(sc.Default)&VR=3.0&RS=da3.0
https://www.westlaw.com/Document/NB579C930AFF711D8803AE0632FEDDFBF/View/FullText.html?transitionType=Default&contextData=(sc.Default)&VR=3.0&RS=da3.0
https://ecf.utd.uscourts.gov/doc1/18314210028?page=4
https://ecf.utd.uscourts.gov/doc1/18314174959?page=32
https://ecf.utd.uscourts.gov/doc1/18314174959?page=32
https://ecf.utd.uscourts.gov/doc1/18314210028?page=6
https://www.westlaw.com/Document/Ice9eeea09c9611d993e6d35cc61aab4a/View/FullText.html?transitionType=Default&contextData=(sc.Default)&VR=3.0&RS=da3.0
https://www.westlaw.com/Document/Ice9eeea09c9611d993e6d35cc61aab4a/View/FullText.html?transitionType=Default&contextData=(sc.Default)&VR=3.0&RS=da3.0&fragmentIdentifier=co_pp_sp_780_14

its agents and officers and those individuals associated with it in the condsdiudirtess, [and]

it may also, in appropriate circumstances, be enforced against those to whom thedusaye

have been transferred, whether as a means of evading the judgment or for other.t€3sons
TheWalling decision was made in the context of facts strikingly similar to those here:

Whether a family business, such as this one appears to be, hasfsligasided

all responsibility for compliance with the judgment entered against the family
corporation, by the simple expedient of dissolving it and continuing the business
under the individual control of members of the family, as appears to have taken
place here, is a question which it is unnecessary for us to decide on the basis of the
scanty and not entirely enlightening affidavits now submitted to usetioisgh for
present purposes, if the appellate procedure, rendered abortive by respondent's
dissolution, has not deprived petitioner of the benefits of the judgment rendered in
his favor by the District Courthat he is entitled to initiate proceedings to enforce

the judgment against individuals who either disobey its command or participate in
the evasion of its terms. In such proceedings the question as to how far the
successor to the corporation is bound by the decree may be fully investigated by
the District Court, wih appropriate appellateeview.1®

i Par 2 is a successor to Paragon and wamsgh®imentality through which
Defendants sought to evade the 2007 injunction.

Par 2 is a successor to ParagoaParagon’s businessas transferred to Part@ evace
the 2007 injunctiomnd the related subpoena enforcement and contempt proceedingbdivasicf
in 2013 (and culminated in a finding of contempt and sanctions ofides)finding is supported
by sufficient evidence in the record that Brian Jessopd Don Jessowent to great lengths to
conceal and minimize Don Jessop’s level of involvement with Paragon before Par 2 was up a

running’” and similarly,their attempt to conceal and minimize Brian Jessop and James Jessop’s

SWalling v. Reuter Co321 U.S. 671, 6741944)(emphasis added) Walling, the Supreme Court determined that
the dissolution of a corporate defendant did not render moot the appelleie of an injunction restraining the
corporate defendant and those associated or identified with it from ngpthe FLSA. The Court reasoned, that “[t]he
vitality of the judgment inrsuch a case survives the dissolution of the corporate defentthnAhd that “these
principles may be applied in fuller measure in furtherance of the puldieatt which here the [Secretary of Labor]
represents, than if only private interests were involvied.at 674-75.

76 Walling, 321 U.S. at 67%emphasis added).
177 Seef 18,supra.
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involvement in Par 2 after Paragon transferred its business operations t&%&r further their
deception they produceditered documents to a federal agency pursuant to a subp8efiais

was done with the intent to conceal evidence of Brian Jessop’s role withA%awnas specifified

at the conclusion of the hearinthiis amounts to “falsification without justificationt® The
deceptioralsoincludes Brian Jesstpfailureand Par 2'sefusalto produce emails sent to or from
Brian Jessop’s Par 2 email account pursuant to a subptditee emailsobtained by the Plaintiff
through an independent sourggequivocally implicat®rian Jessop as an employee and agent of
Par 2 and demonstrate his extensixelvementin Par 2'sday to day business operatidf$The
only reason for Par 2 to alter these documentsathéhold Brian Jessop’s emails is to evamnrirt
orders that bind Ban Jessop (and consequenthpact Par 2).

More broadly, Don Jessgpand Brian Jessdptegimony was reluctant and replete with
pauses, vague answers, amhbsence of recall that affedtse assessment of their credibilit§?
Threeotherfederal judges whithavemade adverse credibility findings agaifstan Jessop in
prior proceedings related to this chsee reached the same finding as is entered Baegr Jessop
is not credible. Similarly, Don Jessop is also not credible.

The impression of Porter Brothassaccurate: Paragon simply changed its name to Par 2
and continued business as usigian Jessops the owner of Paragoand his brother, James

Jessopserved as th¥ice Presidenof the company. Par 2 is ownedthegir brother, Don Jessop,

18 Seeff 22, 26and47, supra
179 Seef 48,supra.

180 Transcript 409:413.

18l Seef 42(c),supra.
182Fxhs. 711.

183 Transcript 409:1417.
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and Brian Jessop and James Jegsoge continued working for Par 2. While Paragon is not
formally dissolved, it ceased operations around the same time Par 2 began operationand Pa
continued Paragon’s business under the individual control of family members.Waliieg, the

extent to whichPar 2, as successor to Paragemas bound by the 2007 Injunctiomust be
considred.

il. Successor Liability

Successor liability under the FLSA has yet to be specifically address#uk blyenth
Circuit. However, inChao v. Concrete Management Resources,, th€ district court permitted
the plaintiff to amend her complaint, in part, based on a theory of suctiesddy under the
FLSA.*®¥ Thedistrictcourt found that while the Tenth Circuit had not addressed the issue, the only
circuit court that had “held, with no difficulty whatsoever, that successorshifityi@xists under
the FLSA."8 Since then, the Third, Seventh and Eleventh Circuits have addressed the merits of
the issue and concluded that application of the federal common law standard of suiedeksor |
to claims under the FLSA is the logical extension of existing casé&faw.

The Tenth Circuit hasxpressly adopted théfacMillan factors” in analyzing the federal
common law standard for a successor corporation’s liability in the Titleafitext!®” Those
factors include whether the successor company had notice of the charge; the abilgy o

predeessor to provide relief;, and whether there has been a substantial comirapgrations,

1842009 WL 564381, *3 (D. Kansas 2009)
1851d. at *3 (citing Steinbach v. Hubbard1 F.3d 843 (9th Cir. 1996)

186 SeeThompson v. Real Estaltéorg. Network,748 F.3d 142, 151 (3rd Cir. 2014)eed v. Thomas & Betts Power
Solutions, LLC711 F. 3d 763, 767 (7th Cir. 2018)atfield v. A+ Nursetemps, In®p1 Fed.Appx. 901 (11th Cir.
2016)

187 Trujillo v. Longhorn Manufacturing Cp694 F.2d 221, 225 n. 3 (10th Cir. 1982)
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work force, location, management, working conditions and methods of prodtfidre “nature
and extent of [successor] liability is subject to no formula, but istetermined upon the facts
and circumstances of each ca$¥.”The liability of a successor is not automatic, but must be
determined on a case by case ba¥i%.”

Federal courts have developesimilar commonkaw doctrine of successorship liability
the labor and employment context which includes some or all oMbeMillan factors.’*%! This
common lawdoctrine extends to legal obligations arising under the National Labardrel&ct
(“NLRA"), the Fair Labor Standards Act (“FLSA”), Title VII olhe Civil Rights Act of 1964
(“Title VII"), and the Family and Medical Leave Act (“FMLA”), among @iis 1% In
Resilient Floor Coveringthe court found that:

Striking a “balance between the need to effectuate federal labor and employment ...

policies and th need ... to facilitate the fluid transfer of corporate assets,” the

successorship doctrine, when applicable, holds legally responsible for obligations
arising under federal labor and employment statutes businesses that anetistibst
continuations of entities with such obligations. “The inquiry [in these successorship

cases] is [therefore] not merely whether the new employer is a ‘succestw’ in
strict corporatdaw sense of the term. The successorship inquiry in the-lator
context is much broaderSullivan,623 F.3d at 78X The primary question in
[labor and employment] successorship cases is whether, undetality of the
circumstances, there is ‘substantial continuity’ between the old and new
enterprise.’(internal citations omitted$y®

1881d. (citing EEOC v. MacMillan Bloedel Containgrinc, 503 F.2d 1086 at 1094 (6th Cir. 19)(4)
189 Scott v. Sopris Imports LtdB62 F.Supp. 1356, 1359 (D. Colo. May1997)(citing MacMillan, 503 F.3d at 1091
190 |d

¥l seeResilient Floor Covering Pension Trust Fund Bd. of Trustees v. Michael's Floeri@gyinc, 801 F.3d 1079
(9" Cir. 2015)

192 5ee, e.gfall River Dyeing & Finishing Corp. v. NLRB82 U.S. 27 (1987NLRA); Einhorn v. M.L. Ruberton
Constr. Co., 632 F.3d 89 '(Cir. 2011)(ERISA);Steinbach v. Hubbard1 F.3d 843 (9th Cir. 199%FLSA); Bates

v. Pac. Maritime Ass'ry44 F.2d 705 (9th Cir. 1984TJitle VII); Sullivan v. Dollar Tree Stores, In623 F.3d 770,
780-81 (9th Cir. 2010]recognizing regulations that incorpaatommon law successorship principles in defining
successorfm-interest for purposes of FMLA liability).

193801 F.3d at 1090
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“Decisions on successorship must balamter alia, the national policies underlying the
statute at issue and the interests of the affected patifd@etause the origins of successor liability
are equitable, fairness is a prime consideration in its applic&fion.

iii. Par 2 as a successor to Paragon cdreliHiable for contempt of the 2007
Injunction

Turning to the application of this test and taking into account fairness and the paiities a
interests at stake, Par 2 is a succesdtr liability to Paragon. There has been a substantial
continuity in operations, work force, location, management, working conditions, and methods of
production between Paragon and Par 2; Par 2 had notice of the 2007 injunction; and Par 2 has the
ability to provide relief.

a. Par 2 had substantial continuity in operations from Parad®n

194 Steinbach51 F.3d at 846

1951d. InTeed v. Thomas & Betts Power Solutions, Lli@ge Posner, writing for the Court of Appeals for the Seventh
Circuit, made a case for the ongoing vitality of the common law sucskgs@tandard and for its application to
claims under the FLSA:

The idea behind having a distinct federal standaplicgble to federal labor and employment
statutes is that these statutes are intended either to foster &dma, @s in the National Labor
Relations Act, or to protect workers' rights, as in Title VII, and thatither type of case the
imposition ofsuccessotiability will often be necessary to achieve the statutory goals because the
workers will often be unable to head off a corporate sale by their employed ainextinguishing

the employer's liability to them. This logic extends to suits to enfbec€air Labor Standards Act.
“The FLSA was passed to protect workers' standards of living througtegbéation of working
conditions.29 U.S.C. § 202That fundamental purpose is as fullgserving of protection as the
labor peace, antliscrimination, and worker security policies underlying the NLRAeTHlI, 42
U.S.C. 8 1981ERISA, and MPPAA. Steinbach v. Hubbardb1 F.3d 843, 845 (9th Cir.1993h

the absence of successor liability, a violator of the Act could escape Viadnildat least make relief
much more difficult to obtain, by selling its assets without an assumgtilabilities by the buyer

(for such an assumption would reduce the purchase price by imposirigoa ties buyer) and then
dissolving. And although it can begaied that imposing successor liability in such a case impedes
the operation of the market in companies by increasing the cost to #redfaycompany that may
have violated the FLSA, it's not a strong argument. The successbtiawdllbeen compensated fo
bearing the liabilities by paying less for the assets it's buying; it will haicelgss because the net
value of the assets will have been diminished by the associated liabilities.

711 F. 3d 763, M-67 (7th Cir. 2013) This pronouncement is well reasoned and directly applicable to tiseirfac
this case.

196 Seeff 9-27, supra
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In sum, Par 2 picked upperationsvhere Paragon left off with its commercial framing
company. Par 2 began operations when Paragon was slowingtd@parations. Dennis Porter,
one of the owners of Porter Brothers, explained the impact of the transfer of businaeisraper
between Paragoand Par 8uccinctly Porter Brothers hired Paragon as a subcontractoafmus
jobs between 2012015; in May 2015, Porter Brothers received a bid from the same individuals
it worked with at Paragon, but under the camp name Par 2 Contractors, LLénd Porter
Brothers has worked with Par 2 (and not Paragon) ever since. In light of Paragoa’shzarge
to Par 2, Porter Brothers requested a newd,Which Jake Barlow provided from a Par 2 emall
address with Paragon Contractors in his signature line.

Par 2 continued to operate with Paragon’s same adgtesse numbermailaddresse
in some instances, and several of the same form documents (i.e. employee list, prefmpsat
least 19 of Paragon’s employees transferred to Reore of whom continued to identify their
employer as Paragon even after the name change occurreddition,Paragon’supper level
managemerttansferredo Par2 as well and continued their same roles in the compaoluding
Don Jessop, Brian Jessop, James Jessop, Jake Barlow, and Benjamin Jessop Phieftats
and utilized Paragon’s Occupationalf&g and Health Policy, as well as several OSHA forms
bearing Paragon’s name to establish compliance with OSkeatsd keeping requirements. Par
2 inherited some tools, equipment, and vehicles from Pardg@se facts establishsubstantial
continuity in operations, work force, location, management, working conditions, and methods of
production. Paragon and Paai2 one and the same

b. Par 2 had notice of the 2007 Injunctitii

Brian Jessop and James Jessop are individually named and their signaturesrafipear

197 Seef 28-32, supra.

30



2007 Injunction. Bth of these individuals had actual knowledge of the Injunction before Paragon
change its name to Par 2. In fadhe name change occurred shortly after Paragon and Brian
Jessop were subject to subpoena enforcement litigation that culminated in a fincon¢eodt
against them for violating the Injunction at isstfeBecause Defendantssed Par 2 asan
instrumentality to violate the injunctipBrian and James Jessop’s actual knowledge of the
Injunctionis imputed tdPar 2.

There is sufficient evidendeatsupports a findinghat Don Jessop and Jake Barlow also
had actual notice of the Injunction. Don Jessop was a Director for Paragon’s ttonpiooan
20002010, during which time the Injunction was entered. He was also employed bgriPavag
the course of ten years, and he facilitated the transfer of Paragon to Ram&warothers who
are individually named as parties to the Injunctiibthough Don Jessop claims that he “has never
seen, been given of, or read” the 2007 Permanent Injunéfithis testimonys notcredble. Don
Jessop’s willful ignorance of the Injunction does not negate a finding that he hddkaowiadge
of it.

Similarly, Jake Barlow was the primary point of contact at Paragon batraime change
to Par 2. He testified that he assisted Paragon with gathering and producingrisqumsuant
to the Department of Labor’s subpoena issued to Paragon in 2013 in the course of Wage Hour
child labor investigation. Underlying that subpoena and investigation was the 2007 émjuamati
Jake Barlow understood the purpose of the subpoena and Wage Hour’s investigatioghly

unlikely given his role in the company and his participation inptih@ investigation that he had

198 Docket no. 3(QPlaintiff's Motion for Order to Show Cause, summarizing the timelinevents related to Wage
Hour’s investigation and Defendants’ contempt), and Case No-c2:281 (consolidated subpoena enforcement
proceedings).

19 Docket no. 16at 6,7 31.

31


https://ecf.utd.uscourts.gov/doc1/18313429474
https://ecf.utd.uscourts.gov/doc1/18314210194?page=6

no knowledge of the Injunction.

The credibility issues involving Defendants’ witnesses, and the nature and exteat of t
deception involved in concealing the relationship between Paragon, Brian Jassep J&ssop,
and Par 2 are intertwined with and directly related to Defendants’ andsPatteihpt to evade the
2007 InjunctionAs such, all parties involved in this action had actual knowledge of the Injunction.

C. Par 2 has the ability to provide reliéf°

Par 2's annual dollar volume of business exceeded $8 million in 2016. Par 2 operates in
several states and works with a varietgantractorsThere was no evidence presented at trial to
support a finding that Par 2 is unable to provide relief in this case. To the contrary, Pahawoe
the ability to provide relief.

Under the totality of circumstances in this case, there istagutial continuity between
Paragon and Par 2 and that the name chahtes entityfrom Paragon to Par 2 is the only real
distinction to be made between the two compadibs finding is based on the national policies
underlying the Fair Labor Standarst and the interests of the affected parties with fairness being
the prime consideratioefendantand Par Zannot be permitted to avoid all responsibility for
compliance with the 2007 Injunction entered against Paragon, Brian Jessop, ande3sosy
the simple expedient of unofficially transferring Paragon’s businesstmpesr#o Par 2 under the
individual control of the same family members.

As the instrumentality through which Defendants sought to evade the 2007 Injunction, Par
2 comes wthin the description dfpersons in active concert or participation with themviolation
of the Injunction. Under this guise, and as a successor to Pae@gbrelevant timePar 2 was

bound by the 2007 Injunction in this case.

200 Seef 33,supra.
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B. Defendants andPar 2 are in Contempt of the 2007 Injunction

In order to prove contempt of a court order, a plaintiff must establish by afeh
convincing evidence, that (1) a valid court order existed, (2) defendants had knowledge of t
order, and (3) defendants disobeyed the oftfer.

i A valid court order existed

The 2007 Permaent Injunctionentered by this Court on November 29, 2087a valid
court order.The injunction permanently enjoins ParagBrian JessopJames Jessand “their
officers, agents, servants, employees, and those persons in active conceitipatar with
thent from violating the provisions of Sections 12(c) and 15(a)(4) of the FLSA.

ii. Defendantdhad knowledge of theoart order.

For the reasonstated above, Defendants and Par 2, as an intervening party, had knowledge
of the Injunction.

iii. Defendants and Par 2 disobeyed the ¢fder

Plaintiff has shown by clear and convincing evidence that DefendadtBar 2lisobeyed
the2007 hjunction bysuffering or permittingminors to work in violation of the FLSA&9 U.S.C.
§ 212 Par 2 was the instrumentality through which Defendants employed minorsnassran a
construction site where they used power nail guns and worked on a roof in violation of Hazardous
Order 529 C.F.R. 8 570.5®ccupations involved in the operation of powierven woodworking
machines) and Hazawds Order 1649 C.F.R. § 570.§ccupations in roofing operations and on

or about a roof). Brian Jessop prepared the bid for the job where the child labor occurred, he was

201 Reliance Ins. Co. v. Mast. Constr. Cb59 F.3d 1311, 1315 (10th Cir. 1998%e alsd-.T.C. v. Kuykendali371
F.3d 745, 756 (10th Cir. 2004)

202 5eef134-39, supra.
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designated as thgrimary point of contact for Par 2 on the subcontract for work, and he maintained
communication with the general contractor throughout the job.

As a result of the child labor violations, Wage Hour assessed a civil money perbty
amount of $6,920.00Par 2 accepted the violations, paid the penalty, and the case was
administratively closedBy paying the penalty and not taking exception to the determination that
the violations for which the penalty was imposed occurred, the administcsieeminatn
became a final order and not subject to administrative or judicial rédfew.

C. Conclusion

Less than two years ago, Defendants Paragon and Brian Jessop were found to be
contempt of the 2007 injuncticfi* The Sanctions Order begins with a finding that éfishd a
veil of secrecy in Southern Utah’s desert country the Defendants profited Heotahior of a
religious community’s children in violation of the court’s previous injunction.” Judgepball
found “[a]t the hearing, as well as throughout discoviétyecame clear that Paragon and Brian
Jessop were not trustworthy and would go to great lengths to deceive the court and the
Government.2% This finding was based in part on the fact that “shortly after being casiiy
child labor in the construction industry and agreeing to the entry of the [2007] Injunction,
Defendants secretly began profiting from child labor once again. Defenaagfist 0 conceal
their knowing and willful violation of the Injunctior?®

Once moreDefendants’ contempt of the Injunction and their extraordinary efforts to

conceal their knowing and willful violation of ihust be addressed. Shortly after being caught

203Docket no. 15@t 4 29 C.F.R. Part 580.5
204 Docket no. 99

205Docket no. 10%t 4

206 Docket no. 10%t 10
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profiting from the labor of a religious community’s children in violation of the 2007 Inpmct
Defendants began profiting from child labor in the construction industry once agagoPand
Brian Jessop have gone to great lengths, in active concert and padicipdh Par 2 and Don
Jesso@nd Jake Barloyto deceive and evachaving to comply withaurt orders

Plantiff has proven by clear and convincing evidence et 2 Contractors, LLC, is a
successor in interest to Paragon Contractors Corporation. Plaintiff has also pyosiear and
convincing evidence th&lefendants and Par and Don Jessop and JakelBaras agents of Par
2, are in contempt of the 2007 Injunction.

For the foregoing reasons,

ORDER

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that Par 2 Contractors, LLC, as a successor in interest to
Paragon Contractors Corporation, is joined as a Defendant to this Kétion.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED and ADJUDGED that Defendants Paragon, Brian Jessop
and Par 2Don Jessop, as Par 2's agent, and Jake Barlow as Par 2'saag@mtivil contempof

this Court’s 2007 Injunctior®®

207 pyrsuant tdFed. R. Civ. P. 25(¢)[i]f an interest is transferred, the action may be continued by or aghans
original party unless the court, on motion, orders the transfebsestigbstituted irhe action or joined with the original
party.” A “transfer of interest” in a corporate context “occurs when orgocation becomes the successor to another
by merger or other acquisition of the interest the original corporate Ipad in the lawsuit.Dalzell v. Trailhead
Lodgeat Wildhorse Meadows, LL@012 WL 3150565 (D. Colo., Aug. 2, 201@jting Luxliner P.L. Export Co. v.
RDI/Luxliner, Inc, 13 F.3d 69, 71 (3d Cir.19935ubstitution of a successor in interest or its joinder as an additional
party under Rule 25(c) is within the sound discretion ofttia¢ court. Prop-Jets, Inc. v. Chandleg75 F.2d 1322,
1324 (1" Cir. 1978) Notably, “[t]he most significant feature of Rule 25(c) is that it doesauptire that anything be
done after an interest has been transferr@dlzell, 2012 WL 3150565t *1. “The action may be continued by or
against the original party, and the judgment will be binding on the socdadsaterest even though the successor is
not named.’1d. (citing Capitol Packaging Corp. v. Stone Container Cog906 WL 6840942, at *2 (D. Colo. June
27, 2006).

208 permanent Injucntiomocketno. 26 filed November 29, 2007.
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In orderto purge themselves of such contempt, Defendants, its officers, agents, successors
and assigns shall:

1. Provide a copy ofhe 2007 Injunction anttis Order to every contractor, employer,
or entity with whom ithas enterednto a contract to perform work ewthe last ten years
Defendants shattertify to Wage Hour that it has complied with this provision and provide a list
of every contractor, employer, or entity to whom such notice was prowiileith 30 days of the
entry of this Ordef®

2. Provide a copyf the 2007 Injunction and this Order@ach of their employees.
Defendants shall certify to Wage Hour that it has complied with this proviempravide a list
of every employee to whom such notice was provisigdin 60 days of this Ordett®

3. Defendants Isall place $50,000 into a fund to provide training on the child labor
provisions of the FLSA and its implementing regulations to all of Defendantdogees and
management, including all employees under the age 6f:1Bhis remedy is imposed in order to
compensate those who have suffered most from Defendaomgemptuous conduct, namely,
Defendants’underaged employees, by providing a fuller understanding of the child labor
provisions of the FLSA to und@ged workers, their adult egorkers, and theimanagers.
Imposing this requiremert directly attributable to the testimony from WHI Goehl regarding his
closing conference with Par 2 following Wage Hour’s child labor investigation in 2016. During

that conferencPar 2’s attorney told WHI Goehl that Par 2, being from an extremediarea

209NLRB v. Monfort, Ing.29 F.3d 525, 529 (10Cir. 1994)
210 Id.

21 EEOC v. Local 638 et alf53 F.2d 1172, 1184 T2Cir. 1985)(upholding a compensatory contempt remedy
fashioned as &raining fund intended to compensate those who had suffered most frendalefs’ contemptuous
conduct).
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in Hildale, UT, likely becameccustomedo allowing 17-yearoldsto perform thesdypesof
tasksand was unawarethat any rulesexisted toindicate thait wasillegal.?'? This remedy
squarely addresses this problem. Moreotrextraining fund and associated training activities
alsoserve tocompensate the Plaintiff and theblic for the harm caused Defendants’ contempt.
Congress has deemed titas in the public interest to eliminate detrimen&ddor conditions,
including, most importantlythe use ofllegal child labor. Defendants’ continued exploitation of
child labor fortheir own competitivadvantage has harmed Plaintiff's ability to uphold that public
interes.?!3 The parties shall confer regarding the implementation and operation of thisgtrainin
fund and submit a proposed plan within 56 days of this Order.

4, Defendants shall pay to Plaintiff the reasonable costs of prosecuting teepont
including attorney'sees?4Plaintiff shall submit an affidavit and proposed order establishing such
costs, including attorney’s fedsavel and subsistence costs for Plaintiff’'s counsel and witnesses,
witness fees and mileage allowandesnscript and court reporter cost;, within 14 days of the
entry of this Order. Defendants shall file any objections to the proposed atber ¥4 days
thereafter.Defendants shall reimburse Plaintiff for the reasonable costs of prosedming t

contempt, including attorney’s fees, within 28 days of an Order imposing such costs.

212 Docket no. 15@t 2 § 7; Tanscriptl36:12-21.
21329 U.S.C. § 202
214 3ohn Zink Co. v. Zink41 F.3d 1256126162 (10" Cir. 2001)

37


https://ecf.utd.uscourts.gov/doc1/18314174975?page=2
https://www.westlaw.com/Document/NB65E5CD0AFF711D8803AE0632FEDDFBF/View/FullText.html?transitionType=Default&contextData=(sc.Default)&VR=3.0&RS=da3.0
https://www.westlaw.com/Document/Ie8499a1779a611d99c4dbb2f0352441d/View/FullText.html?transitionType=Default&contextData=(sc.Default)&VR=3.0&RS=da3.0&fragmentIdentifier=co_pp_sp_506_1261

5. In the event that Defendantsil to comply with any provisions of this Order,
including the deadlines set forth above, a prospedary monetarypenalty in the amount of
$1,000will be imposed until compance is reachet!®

Signed September 10, 2018.

BY THE COURT:

David Nuffer
United States District Judge

215 Monfort, Inc, 29 F.3d at 530
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	FINDINGS OF FACT3F , 4F
	1. A Permanent Injunction against Defendants Paragon, Brian Jessop, and James Jessop was entered on November 29, 2007.5F   Pursuant to the injunction:
	Par 2 is a Successor in Interest to Paragon
	There has been a substantial continuity in operations, work force, location, management, working conditions and methods of production between Paragon and Par 2.
	9. Par 2 is a commercial framing company, as was Paragon.15F
	10. Par 2 filed Articles of Incorporation with the Utah Secretary of State on December 2, 2013, but it did not begin to operate as a business until August 2014.16F
	11. While Paragon remains an active company, it has no contracts for work, jobs, or employees.17F  Paragon sold most of its tools and equipment over the last few years.18F  At most, Paragon had “a job or two” that was “still going on” in 2016 somewher...
	12. Brian Jessop testified that he has been downsizing Paragon’s operations since 2011 for personal reasons, but his testimony is inconsistent with Paragon’s tax records, that he read into the record, establishing that Paragon’s gross receipts and sal...
	13. Porter Brothers is a general contractor located in Gilbert, Arizona.22F  Porter Brothers hired Paragon as a subcontractor for various jobs between 2013 and 2015.23F  In May 2015, Porter Brothers received a bid from the same individuals it worked w...
	14. Like Paragon, Par 2 does work for large commercial hotels like Hyatt and Marriott, universities, and other large scale commercial projects.25F
	15. Par 2’s annual dollar volume of business was $1,030,998 in 2014, $5,753,562 in 2015, and $8,022,510.87 (YTD at the time of Wage Hour’s investigation) in 2016.26F
	16. Paragon’s address is 1065 W. Utah Avenue, Hildale, UT, 84784.27F  Par 2 shared the same address from the time it incorporated up until the summer of 2017.28F
	17. Paragon’s phone number was (435) 874-1310.29F  Par 2 used the same phone number for several years.30F  Jake Barlow claimed that Par 2 eventually got a new phone number but he could not recall when and there is no evidence to support his testimony....
	18. All of Par 2’s upper level employees are former employees or management of Paragon:
	Brian Jessop:
	a. Brian Jessop was the owner of and estimator for Paragon, and he continues to be an estimator for Par 2.33F
	b. Brian Jessop is a party to the 2007 Injunction.34F
	c. Brian Jessop is also a supervisor for Par 2, as reflected on a Fall Protection Pre-Test that he signed for Kimball Barlow in November 2015 in the capacity of a supervisor for Par 2.35F
	d. Par 2’s foreman identified Brian Jessop as Par 2’s safety coordinator in November 2016.36F
	e. When contractors like Porter Brothers sent bid requests to Par 2, they sent the requests to Brian Jessop, and the bids Porter Brothers received from Par 2 had Brian Jessop’s name at the bottom of them.37F
	f. Brian Jessop communicated with estimators and project managers from Porter Brothers—on behalf of Par 2—to clarify proposals and contracts for work.38F
	g. On several occasions, Brian Jessop authorized material changes to proposals on behalf of Par 2.39F
	h. Brian Jessop was also the primary contact person identified on at least one of Par 2’s subcontractor agreements with Porter Brothers,40F  on another contractor’s (Bonneville Builders) subcontractor list,41F  and on another Par 2 subcontract agreeme...
	i. Brian Jessop has been involved with most of Par 2’s bids since Par 2 was formed, including making material changes to bids.43F
	j. Brian Jessop’s involvement is not limited to the bidding process; he also oversees the day to day operations of Par 2’s work sites through the completion of Par 2’s work.44F
	Don Jessop:
	a. Don Jessop is Brian Jessop’s brother.45F
	b. Don Jessop’s declaration states he was employed by Paragon until 2004.46F  However, in August 2017, Don Jessop told the U.S. Department of Labor, Wage Hour Division (“Wage Hour”) that he worked for Paragon between 1998 and 2006.47F  At trial, Don J...
	c. In contrast, Brian Jessop testified that Don Jessop worked for Paragon between 2002 and 2004, but he acknowledged that Don Jessop appears on Paragon’s employee list provided to Wage Hour pursuant to a subpoena in 2012.50F
	Jake Barlow:
	a. Jake Barlow worked for Paragon from at least 2011 to 2014 before he joined Par 2.51F
	b. Along with Brian Jessop, Jake Barlow was a primary point of contact for contractors at Paragon.52F
	c. Jake Barlow continued to be the point of contact for contractors at Par 2.53F
	d. Jake Barlow signed OSHA’s Form 300A for Paragon in the capacity of “Office Manager” and “Manager” between 2012 and 2014.54F  He continued to sign OSHA’s Form 300A for Par 2 in the same capacity.55F
	e. Jake Barlow also did timekeeping, payroll and accounting for Paragon, and he continued to do timekeeping, payroll and accounting for Par 2.56F
	Benjamin Barlow:
	a. Benjamin Barlow was authorized to sign IRS Form W-9 on behalf of Paragon in 2012.57F  He continued to work for Par 2 and was identified as a main point of contact for Par 2, along with Jake Barlow, to Arizona Division of Occupational Safety and Hea...
	b. Benjamin Barlow also identified himself to ADOSH as Par 2’s safety manager and signed a settlement agreement with ADOSH on behalf of Par 2.59F
	James Jessop:
	a. James (“Jim”) Jessop is Brian Jessop’s brother.60F
	b. He is the Vice President of Paragon.61F
	c. He is a party to the 2007 Permanent Injunction.62F
	d. James Jessop was also designated as, and held himself out to be, a management official for Par 2 to ADOSH Inspector Wilson during his inspection.63F
	Kimball Barlow:
	a. Kimball Barlow was employed by Paragon and his name appears on the cover page of Paragon’s 2014 Occupational Safety and Health Policy; and he continued to be employed as a foreman for Par 2.64F
	19. Par 2 has between 20 to 30 employees.65F  In August 2017, Don Jessop told Wage Hour that he has hired only two or three former Paragon employees to work at Par 2.66F  However, a comparison of employee lists provided by Paragon and Par 2 reflect th...
	20. Paragon’s Occupational Safety and Health Policy also transferred to Par 2.70F  Par 2 produced it to ADOSH Inspector Wilson as its own policy during an inspection in August 2015.71F
	21. Similarly, Par 2 produced to Inspector Wilson several OSHA forms bearing Paragon’s name as records of compliance with OSHA regulations.72F  Inspector Wilson accepted the records bearing Paragon’s name as records belonging to Par 2 when he discover...
	22. During a subsequent inspection in November 2016, Par 2 again produced records bearing Paragon Contractors’ name to ADOSH Inspector Brooks Rogers.74F
	23. Paragon and Par 2 use the same proposal forms to solicit work from contractors and Brian Jessop signed the proposals for both companies.75F  Paragon and Par 2 produced employee lists on nearly identical forms as well.76F  In an effort to explain t...
	24. Par 2’s Office Manager, Jake Barlow, uses Paragon’s signature line on emails sent from his Par 2 email account.78F
	25. Par 2 received some tools, equipment, and vehicles from Paragon; but neither Don nor Brian Jessop would elaborate with respect to what tools, equipment, or vehicles were transferred from Paragon to Par 2. For example, Don Jessop declared that “Par...
	26. At least one contractor (Porter Brothers) that did business with Paragon for several years believed that Paragon changed its name to Par 2 in 2015.85F  Porter Brothers emailed Brian Jessop on May 1, 2015, asking for a new W-9 because Paragon’s com...
	27. Similarly, some of Par 2’s employees continued to identify their employer as Paragon even after the name change occurred.91F
	Par 2 had notice of the 2007 Permanent Injunction
	28. At least five Par 2 employees and members of management have notice of the 2007 Permanent Injunction.
	29. Brian Jessop and Jim Jessop are individually named on and had actual notice of the 2007 Permanent Injunction.92F  As explained above, Brian Jessop and James Jessop continued to work for Par 2 when Paragon ceased business operations.93F
	30. Before he went to work for Par 2, Jake Barlow assisted Paragon with gathering and producing documents pursuant to the Department of Labor’s subpoena issued to Paragon in 2013 in the course of Wage Hour’s child labor investigation surrounding the p...
	31. Don Jessop was a Director for Paragon Contractors Corporation between 2000 and 2010, during which time the 2007 Permanent Injunction was entered.97F
	32. Keith Dutson is a former employee of Paragon and current employee for Par 2.98F  Brian Jessop testified that he never informed Keith Dutson of the 2007 Permanent Injunction; however, Keith Dutson was involved in subpoena enforcement proceedings wi...
	Par 2 is able to provide relief
	33. Par 2’s annual dollar volume of business exceeded $8 million in 2016.100F  Par 2 operates in several states and works with a variety of contractors.101F  There is no evidence to support a finding that Par 2 is unable to provide relief in this case.
	Par 2 violated the 2007 injunction
	34. Wage Hour Investigator Jacob Goehl (“WHI Goehl”) investigated Par 2 for compliance with the Fair Labor Standards Act in 2016.102F  The investigation occurred at the same location where ADOSH did an investigation at the Marriot Residence Inn in Fla...
	35. WHI Goehl found Par 2’s foreman, Phil Barlow, to be “cagey” throughout the investigation.106F  WHI Goehl held an initial conference and conducted nearly eight hours of surveillance of the job site, where he observed Par 2’s employees engaging in r...
	36. Based on records produced by Par 2, WHI Goehl discovered that two of the framers working on the site were 17 years old.108F  He confirmed with Jake Barlow and Par 2’s attorney that all of the framers, including the 17-year olds, used power nail gu...
	37. WHI Goehl determined that Par 2’s employment of these minors violated the child labor provisions of Fair Labor Standards Act of 1938 (29 U.S.C. § 212), and related regulations, including Hazardous Order 5 (29 C.F.R. § 570.55, occupations involved ...
	38. During the closing conference, Par 2’s attorney told WHI Goehl that Par 2, being from an extremely rural area in Hildale, UT, likely became accustomed to allowing 17-year olds to perform these types of tasks and was unaware that any rules existed ...
	39. Wage Hour assessed a civil money penalty in the amount of $6,920.00; Par 2 accepted the violations, paid the penalty, and the case was administratively closed.114F  Because Par 2 paid the penalty and did not contest the violations, Wage Hour’s adm...
	40. U.S. District Court Magistrate Judge Furse, U.S. District Court Judge Shelby, and U.S. District Court Judge Campbell have all determined that Brian Jessop is not credible. In the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law following the first contempt...
	This court is not the first judge in this case to find Brian Jessop not to be a credible witness. During proceedings brought by the Secretary to enforce subpoenas issued to Paragon and Brian Jessop, Magistrate Judge Evelyn Furse wrote: “Mr. Jessop’s c...
	Don Jessop
	44. Though he claims to be responsible for all decisions regarding Par 2, Don Jessop was unfamiliar with several aspects of the company during his August 2017 initial conference with Wage Hour, including: Par 2’s annual dollar volume of business; its ...
	45. When Wage Hour asked if Par 2 employs any former Paragon employees, Don Jessop stated he hired “two or three employees from Paragon.”141F  This is inconsistent with the employee lists produced by Paragon and Par 2 pursuant to subpoenas, which refl...
	46. During the initial conference with Wage Hour in August 2017, Don Jessop attempted to minimize the nature and extent of Brian Jessop’s involvement with Par 2.143F  He claimed that Brian Jessop sometimes provides assistance in the evenings by ensuri...
	47. A side-by-side comparison of the records produced by Porter Brothers148F  and those produced by Par 2149F  demonstrates that Par 2 removed Brian Jessop’s name from the contract documents in several locations. In the contracts produced by Porter Br...
	Jake Barlow
	48. Par 2 provided numerous OSHA forms bearing Paragon’s name to ADOSH, on two separate occasions over a year apart.156F  Jake Barlow claims that Benjamin Barlow accidentally sent the Paragon OSHA forms to Inspector Wilson in September 2015;157F  and ...
	49. Jake Barlow signed the OSHA forms for Paragon and Par 2 as “Office Manager” or “Manager.”163F  But he claims signing as a manager for Paragon for years 2012 and 2013 was also an “accident.”164F
	50. Jake Barlow also claims that Par 2 mistakenly produced Paragon’s safety and health policy to ADOSH.165F  According to him, he intended to use Paragon’s policy, but replace Paragon’s name with Par 2 within the document.166F
	51. Jake Barlow made another “mistake” when he emailed Porter Brothers on May 1, 2015, from his Par 2 email account with “Paragon Contractors” in his signature line.167F  He explained that he copied Brian Jessop on this email “so that he knew that I h...
	52. Jake Barlow denies having any knowledge of Brian Jessop’s involvement with Par 2, despite the fact that Brian Jessop is his uncle, and despite the nature and extent of Brian Jessop’s involvement at Par 2 by his own admission and other evidence in ...
	CONCLUSIONS OF LAW
	A. Par 2, as a successor to Paragon, qualifies as a “person[] in active concert or participation with them” capable of violation of the injunction.

	Brian Jessop and James Jessop are individually named and their signatures appear on the 2007 Injunction. Both of these individuals had actual knowledge of the Injunction before Paragon changed its name to Par 2. In fact, the name change occurred short...
	There is sufficient evidence that supports a finding that Don Jessop and Jake Barlow also had actual notice of the Injunction. Don Jessop was a Director for Paragon’s corporation from 2000–2010, during which time the Injunction was entered. He was als...
	Similarly, Jake Barlow was the primary point of contact at Paragon before the name change to Par 2. He testified that he assisted Paragon with gathering and producing documents pursuant to the Department of Labor’s subpoena issued to Paragon in 2013 i...
	The credibility issues involving Defendants’ witnesses, and the nature and extent of the deception involved in concealing the relationship between Paragon, Brian Jessop, James Jessop, and Par 2 are intertwined with and directly related to Defendants’ ...
	Par 2’s annual dollar volume of business exceeded $8 million in 2016. Par 2 operates in several states and works with a variety of contractors. There was no evidence presented at trial to support a finding that Par 2 is unable to provide relief in thi...
	Under the totality of circumstances in this case, there is substantial continuity between Paragon and Par 2 and that the name change of the entity from Paragon to Par 2 is the only real distinction to be made between the two companies. This finding is...
	As the instrumentality through which Defendants sought to evade the 2007 Injunction, Par 2 comes within the description of “persons in active concert or participation with them” in violation of the Injunction. Under this guise, and as a successor to P...
	B. Defendants and Par 2 are in Contempt of the 2007 Injunction
	C. Conclusion

	ORDER

